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The University of Iowa Pentacrest comprises a park-like, four-square-block area on the
east side of (and overlooking) the Iowa River in Iowa City. Between the Pentacrest and
the river are other university buildings and facilities. To the east of the Pentacrest
is Iowa City's Central Business District. The name "Pentacrest" derives from the five
buildings, arranged in a quincunx, which occupy the grounds at the highest elevation
of the four-block area. The four outer buildings, Schaeffer, Macbride, MacLean, and
Jessup Halls, form a frame, for the central feature, the 01d Capitol, begun in 1840 as
Iowa's third territorial cap1t01 and now a National Historic Landmark. The grounds of
the Pentacrest are landscaped, planted with a variety of ornamental shrubbery, flower-
beds in season, and shaded by Targe old trees (including elins). Vehicular traffic is
limited to a service drive directly behind MacLean and Jessup halls. Sidewalks edge the
perimeter of the Pentacrest, and connect the buildings to one another.

The 01d Capitol is a Greek Revival building, two stories high, 120'x60', with tetrastyle
port1coes on east and west elevations, built'of tan-gray limestone. Porticoes, columns,
main cornices and cupola are of wood. The simplicity of its form is set off by the four
corner buildings, which are on a much larger scale (all approximately 300 feet long) and
in the more elaborate Beaux Arts tradition. A1l four are constructed of Timestone, with
concrete and/or steel loadbearing walls. They were erected between 1898 and 1924, from
designs by the architectural firm of Proudfoot, Bird and Rawson, Des Moines.

The four stories of each building are organ1zed into three stages. The first stage of
each is a rusticated basement encompassing the first story above ground (two stories

on the west facades of MacLean and Jessup, which straddle the hill). The second stage
organizes the second and third stories into a zone defined by a giant Ionic order sur-
mounted by full entablatures. The third is a crowning or parapet stage which encompasses
the fourth story. The parapet stage is surmounted by a blocking course which effectively
conceals the roofs. Decorative elements are largely confined to the second stage. Each
building is strictly symmetrical. Dimensions of the order are consistent throughout the
complex and the order used throughout is Ionic. This provides a framework into which
great freedom of detail from ‘building to building is 1ntroduced

Schaeffer (1898-9) and Macbride (1904-8) are H-shaped in plan, the buildings facing

east. The center portions (or cross-piece of the H) bow out at the rear in large, semi-
circular excedra; the fronts are marked by projecting tetrastyle porticoes, the pedi-
ments surmounted by massive acrotaria. Each building has small basement-level entrances
in the north and west elevations of the wings, surmounted by a tetrastyle pavilion of
engaged columns on the second stage. The three bays of the east and west elevation of the
wings are organized into tetrastyle pilastrades.

The surface of Macbride is more textured than that of Schaeffer, with the wall space be-
tween windows given over to superimposed panels. cons1st1ng of very flat rusticated piers.
A greater percentagé of 'the wall surface of Macbride is given over to window obenings-
coupled double hung windows, as opposed to the single double-hung windows of Schaeffer.
There is also variation between the side pavilions of Schaeffer and Macbride. Those of
Schaeffer are of five bays, advanced more from the wall, with the middle three bays
organized into a tetrastyle engaged portico. These three bays vary in width, so that the
columns become coupled. The advancement is carried up onto the parapet stage, creating

a more broken roofline. Side pavilions of Macbride are only three bays--a tetrastyle
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portico with columns uniformly spaced, and not as highly relieved from the wall as those
of Schaeffer. Schaeffer also exhibits the round arch--used on the second story windows
with consoled keystones.

MacLean (1910-11) and Jessup (1924) are simple elongated rectangles in plan, less massive
than Schaeffer and Macbride, and their main elevations are oriented to the west, rather
than to the east as are the earlier two buildings. Due to the slope of ground to the
west, the lower stage of each is two, rather than one story, with central, tripartite
round-arched entrance pieces at ground level, which open into oval stairhalls. The
second stages of MacLean and Jessup, on the west side, display engaged colonnades run-
ning the full 15-bay length of the facades. Three-bay colonnades, with consoles above
the entablature, are found on the north and south facades of Jessup, pilasters on the
corresponding elevations of MacLean. The east sides of each feature pilastrades the
full length of wall. Entrances here are at 1/2-level, at the 4th and 12th bays. These
are framed with corner piers and surmounted by wide, plain entablatures (a motif de-
rived from the Choragic Monument of Thrasyllos, Athens).

Of some interest is the iconography of the Pentacrest, displayed on Schaeffer, Macbride,
and MaclLean Halls, with Macbride's the most elaborate. The frieze of MaclLean features
names of men prominent in the history of physics, from Archimedes and Galileo to Hertz,
Becquerel, Newton, and Ampere. Some of the tympana of the round-arched windows of Schae-
ffer are carved in bas-relief with swags of fruit, vegetables, and flowers. Above the
north and south entrances, respectively, are a woman's head on a rocaille shell, and a
male Indian's head framed with cornstalks and shafts of wheat.

The bas-relief of Macbride is in keeping with the building's function, although no
attempt is made to indicate the hierarchy of the variety of fauna depicted. The windows
of the upper story of the second stage are hooded with "garlands" of seashells and ribbon.
The panels above the lower story windows feature unusual swags, with an animal head in
the center, smaller animals, their entire bodies depicted, forming the drape of the swag.
Some attempt was made to give each panel a theme: for example, water birds (cranes, gulls)
or predatory birds (buteos and owls), plains mammals (bison, antelope, deer), aquatic
fauna (turtles, fish, shellfish), reptiles (alligator, snake, lizard). On a laraer scale
are the full-form representations of a moose, bison, and elk, which decorate the tympanum
of the portico.

The interior arrangements of the buildings are fairly simple. In Schaeffer and Macbride
the main halls and stairways are at either end (and not in the centers as the pondero
porticoes suggest) with long hallways connecting them running directly throuah the build-
ings. MacLean and Jessup have oval entrance halls at the centers of the west facades, but
the stairs Tead up only to the second level of the basement. Stairways to the upper storie
are toward either end, and connect directly to the half-level entrances on the east sides.

The interiors of all four buildings have been remodeled periodically over the years to
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to accomodate changing needs of the University's academic and administrative departments.
A few original elements remain in each, chiefly the wrought-iron balustrades of the
staircases, and columns faced with scagliola in Schaeffer and Macbride. Original wood-
work and flooring is found, to a greater or lesser degree, in all buildings. Schaeffer,
originally the Hall of Liberal Arts, now contains foreign language, classics, history
and political science departments. Macbride houses Home Economics, Sociology, and Anthro-
pology Departments. MacLean, originally shared by fine arts and physics departments, is
now occupied by the mathematical sciences. Jessup is now primarily an administration
building.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The four buildings which frame 01d Capitol are significant examples of the work of Proud-
foot, Bird and Rawson, a Des Moines architectural firm which contributed much toward Iowa't
built environment in the decades immediately before and after 1900. The quincunx arrange-
ment, traditionally ascribed to University of Iowa President Charles Schaeffer, may have
originated with Henry Van Brunt of Kansas City, Missouri, toward which were added the
recommendations of the Olmstead Brothers in 1905.' Although monumental, the four Beaux
Arts buildings make an effective frame for the pivotal feature of the Pentacrest, the
Greek Revival 01d Capitol. The stone used in their construction is less bright than that
of the 01d Capitol, their cornice lines kept slightly lower, and the tetrastyle porti-
coes of Schaeffer and Macbride complement that of the older buildings. The quincunx
arrangement allows unobstructed frontal views of 01d Capitol, and enhances its position
as a monumental terminus to Iowa Avenue. The four buildings also complement one another,
in plan, mass, and the consistency of their order; yet, the variety of detail allows

each a character of its own.

The erection of Schaeffer Hall, in 1898 inaugurated a significant phase in the history of
the University of Iowa's physical plant. For many years previous, the University's chief
source of income was an annual appropriation from the state legislature, augmented at
times by private donations. The annual appropriation was often the subject of controversy,
due to differing opinions, on the part of the legislature and University officials, on

the role of the school in the state, and the state's obligation .to the school. By the
1890's legislative reluctance to fund major building programs had resulted in over-crowdin
of the academic departments, and wholly inadequate teaching facilities. In 1896, however,
the extreme handicaps under which university students and faculty labored became clear,
even to parsimonious legislators. That year, the legislature approved "a special tax of
one-tenth mill on the dollar on the assessed valuation of the taxable property of the
state", the returns from which would be devoted tg "the erection. improvement and equip-
ment" of much-needed buildings at the University.¢ The funds thus provided the means for
an ambitious expansion program, of which Schaeffer, Macbride, and MacLean Halls are today
the most prominent reminders.

A survey in progress on the theme of Iowa contributions to the sciences has identified
MaclLean, Schaeffer, and Macbride halls as sites of some significance, although only
Macbride retains physical evidence of these events.of scientific achievement.

MaclLean Hall was originally built for the physics department, and served as such until
completion of a new physics building on Iowa Avenue in the mid-1960's. From 1947-1954,
James Van Allen's MaclLean hall laboratory produced "rocketoons" - rockets launched from
high altitude balloons which were used to collect information about types and extent of
radiation around the earth. The data collected from these rocketoons suggested the exist-
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ence of a belt or belts of radiation around the earth, now called the Van Allen radia-
tion belts, which were confirmed by satellite in 1958. The equipment for the satellite
was designed and built by Van Allen and the physics department in MacLean Hall.

As the main building for the college of Liberal Arts, Schaeffer Hall originally housed
the psychology department. Carl E. Seashore, who taught here from 1897 to 1936, is
regarded as a pioneer in speech pathology and the psychology of music. The basement of
Schaeffer at one time housed a specially-designed echo-free room for Seashore's work.

The erection of Macbride in 1904 allowed natural history professor Charles Cleveland
Nutting the opportunity to create, by the 1920's a zoology department and museum of
natural history of national reputation. Nutting's courses in taxonomy were noteworthy
for their quality, and for the large specimen collection- obtained from Nutting's own
expeditions as well as others mounted by the University under his direction- available
to students for examination. Nutting and the director of the natural history museum,
Homer Dill, also offered courses in taxidermy and museum presentation of a sophistica-
tion unusual at the time. Dill's pioneering work in the display of preserved specimens
in a setting approximately their natural surroundings was crowned with the completion,
in 1917, of the Laysan Island Cyclorama, possibly the first of its kind in the world.
This cyc lorama is still in use, and open to the public.

Footnotes:

]"The Report of the Olmstead Brothers...", p. 5; Lang, A History of the State University

of Towa..., pp. 187-190, 418 n. 114, 115,

2 ang, p.180.
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